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Online
All of our 2020 reports, together with 
supporting documents, are available on our 
website at: 

  www.sibanyestillwater.com/news-
investors/reports/annual 

Our 2020 reports
These reports cover the 

financial year from  
1 January 2020 to  

31 December 2020*

ABOUT OUR REPORTS

Domiciled and headquartered in South Africa, Sibanye 
Stillwater Limited (Sibanye-Stillwater or the Group) is 
a unique, diversified, global precious metals producer, 

mining and processing platinum group metals (PGMs) and 
gold. Our geographically diverse portfolio of operations 

and projects in southern Africa (SA) and the United States 
(US) was recently supplemented by the acquisition of  

a 30% stake in Keliber Oy, developers of the  
Keliber lithium project in Finland.

The 2020 suite of reports describes Sibanye-Stillwater’s progress in delivering on 

our strategy and related strategic focus areas, and on our purpose and vision to 

create value, responsibly and sustainably, over the short, medium and long term. 

The Integrated Annual Report, the primary report in the suite, covers our financial, 

operational, environmental, social and governance performance.

International Integrated 
Reporting Framework assurance 

and validation procedure 

International Council on Mining 
and Metals (ICMM)

United Nations Global Compact 
(UNGC) Principles and the 
Sustainable Development  

Goals (SDGs)

Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) Standards

Listed Company Requirements, 
including the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (JSE) and the New York 

Stock Exchange (NYSE)

Mining Charter  
and related social and 

labour plans

World Gold Council’s (WGC) 
Responsible Mining Principles 

(RGMPs)

Sustainability Accounting 
Standards Board (SASB)  

Metals and Mining 

King Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa, 

2016 (King IV)

Companies Act  
South Africa, 71 of 2008,  

as amended

International Financial 
Reporting Standards  

(IFRS)

Task Force on Climate-Related 
Financial Disclosures  

(TCFD)

In compiling our reports, we considered and/or complied with the following 
frameworks, standards, and guidelines:

SUMMARISED REPORT 
AND NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
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GROUP ANNUAL 
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REPORT 2020
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R E P O R T 

Note: All photographs used in this report were taken before 
the COVID-19 pandemic and do not reflect Sibanye-Stillwater’s 
standard operating protocols that were implemented as a result 
of the pandemic.

SUPPORTING FACT SHEETS AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION AVAILABLE ONLINE:

• Alignment to the UNGC and 
SDGs 

• Biodiversity management

• Care for iMali: Taking care 
of personal finance 

• Combatting illegal mining

• Definitions for 
sustainability/ESG indicators

• Environmental incidents 
2020

• Generating clean energy: 
Beatrix methane project

• GRI Content Index

• ICMM self-assessment

• King IV Disclosure

• Marikana renewal 

• Mining supports Montana 

• Social and labour plans’ 
summary 

• Tailings management

• Working together: Good 
Neighbor Agreement



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

0 

 

 

The information in this document may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the “safe harbour” provisions of the United States 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements, including, among others, those relating to Sibanye Stillwater 
Limited’s (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, “Sibanye-Stillwater” or the “Group”) financial positions, business strategies, plans 
and objectives of management for future operations, are necessarily estimates reflecting the best judgment of the senior management and 
directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited and involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those suggested by the forward-looking statements. As a consequence, these forward-looking statements should be considered in light of various 
important factors, including those set forth in this document.  

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this document may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements 
also often use words such as “will”, “forecast”, “potential”, “estimate”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate” and words of similar meaning. By their nature, 
forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances and should be considered in light 
of various important factors, including those set forth in this disclaimer. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements.  

The important factors that could cause Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from estimates 
or projections contained in the forward-looking statements include, without limitation, Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s future financial position, plans, 
strategies, objectives, capital expenditures, projected costs and anticipated cost savings, financing plans, debt position and ability to reduce debt 
leverage; economic, business, political and social conditions in South Africa, Zimbabwe, the United States and elsewhere; plans and objectives of 
management for future operations; Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s ability to obtain the benefits of any streaming arrangements or pipeline financing; 
the ability of Sibanye Stillwater Limited to comply with loan and other covenants and restrictions and difficulties in obtaining additional financing or 
refinancing; Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s ability to service its bond instruments; changes in assumptions underlying Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s 
estimation of its current mineral reserves; any failure of a tailings storage facility; the ability to achieve anticipated efficiencies and other cost 
savings in connection with, and the ability to successfully integrate, past, ongoing and future acquisitions, as well as at existing operations; the 
ability of Sibanye Stillwater Limited to complete any ongoing or future acquisitions; the success of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s business strategy 
and exploration and development activities; the ability of Sibanye Stillwater Limited to comply with requirements that it operate in ways that 
provide progressive benefits to affected communities; changes in the market price of gold and PGMs; the occurrence of hazards associated with 
underground and surface mining; any further downgrade of South Africa’s credit rating; a challenge regarding the title to any of Sibanye Stillwater 
Limited’s properties by claimants to land under restitution and other legislation; Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s ability to implement its strategy and 
any changes thereto; the occurrence of labour disruptions and industrial actions; the availability, terms and deployment of capital or credit; 
changes in the imposition of regulatory costs and relevant government regulations, particularly environmental, tax, health and safety regulations 
and new legislation affecting water, mining, mineral rights and business ownership, including any interpretation thereof which may be subject to 
dispute; the outcome and consequence of any potential or pending litigation or regulatory proceedings or environmental, health or safety issues; 
the concentration of all final refining activity and a large portion of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s PGM sales from mine production in the United 
States with one entity; the identification of a material weakness in disclosure and internal controls over financial reporting; the effect of US tax 
reform legislation on Sibanye Stillwater Limited and its subsidiaries; the effect of South African Exchange Control Regulations on Sibanye 
Stillwater Limited’s financial flexibility; operating in new geographies and regulatory environments where Sibanye Stillwater Limited has no 
previous experience; power disruptions, constraints and cost increases; supply chain shortages and increases in the price of production inputs; 
the regional concentration of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s operations; fluctuations in exchange rates, currency devaluations, inflation and other 
macro-economic monetary policies; the occurrence of temporary stoppages of mines for safety incidents and unplanned maintenance; Sibanye 
Stillwater Limited’s ability to hire and retain senior management or sufficient technically skilled employees, as well as its ability to achieve 
sufficient representation of historically disadvantaged South Africans (HDSAs) in its management positions; failure of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s 
information technology and communications systems; the adequacy of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s insurance coverage; social unrest, sickness or 
natural or man-made disaster at informal settlements in the vicinity of some of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s South African-based operations; and 
the impact of HIV, tuberculosis and the spread of other contagious diseases, such as the coronavirus disease (COVID-19). Further details of 
potential risks and uncertainties affecting Sibanye Stillwater Limited are described in Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s filings with the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Integrated Annual Report 2020 and the Annual 
Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2020.  

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of the content. Sibanye Stillwater Limited expressly disclaims any obligation or 
undertaking to update or revise any forward-looking statement (except to the extent legally required). These forward-looking statements have not 
been reviewed or reported on by the Company’s external auditors. 
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The audited company financial statements of Sibanye Stillwater Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been prepared by 
Sibanye- Stillwater’s group financial reporting team headed by Jacques le Roux. This process was supervised by the Company’s CFO, Charl 
Keyter and authorised for issue by Sibanye-Stillwater’s Board of Directors on 22 April 2021. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
No statement of cash flows is presented as the Company does not have a bank account and no cash flow took place during the 2020 or 2019 
financial years. No statement of other comprehensive income is presented as there were no movements in other comprehensive income during 
the 2020 or 2019 financial years. 
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the company annual financial statements of Sibanye Stillwater Limited 
(SSW or the Company), comprising the company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and company income statement and 
company statements of other comprehensive income and changes in equity, and the notes to the company financial statements, which include a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well as the requirements of the 
South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 (the Companies Act) and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report. 

The directors consider that, in preparing the company financial statements, they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently 
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS standards that they consider to be applicable 
have been complied with for the financial year ended 31 December 2020. The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the 
company financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the Company at year end. The 
directors are responsible for the information included in the company annual financial statements, and are responsible for both its accuracy and 
its consistency. 

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with reasonable accuracy 
the financial position of the Company to enable the directors to ensure that the company annual financial statements comply with the relevant 
legislation. 

The Company operated in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk 
management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and the material 
risks facing the business are being controlled. 

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern and based on this assessment concluded 
that the basis for preparation of the company annual financial statements is appropriate to that of a going concern. 

The directors attestation in terms of 3.84(k) of the JSE Listings Requirements can be found on page 33 of the Annual Financial Report. 

The Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young Inc. audited the company annual financial statements. For their report, see–Independent 
Auditor’s Report. 

The company annual financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and are signed on its behalf by: 

 
Neal Froneman 
Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

 

 

Charl Keyter 
Chief Financial Officer 

22 April 2021 

 

COMPANY SECRETARY'S CONFIRMATION 

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, as amended, I certify that to the best of my knowledge, the Company has lodged with the 
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required to be lodged by a public company in terms of the Companies 
Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date. 

 

 

Lerato Matlosa 
Company Secretary 
22 April 2021 
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Introduction  

The Audit Committee has formal terms of reference which are updated on an annual basis. The Board is satisfied that the Audit Committee has 
complied with these terms, and with its legal and regulatory responsibilities as set out in the South African Companies Act (Companies Act), 
King IVTM, the JSE Listings Requirements (JSE LR) and the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 

The Audit Committee consisted of six independent non-executive directors for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.  

The Board believes that the members collectively possess the knowledge and experience to supervise Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s financial 
management, internal and external auditors, the quality of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s financial controls, the preparation and evaluation of 
Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s audited company financial statements and Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s periodic financial reporting. 

The Board has established and maintains internal controls and procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. These are designed to 
manage the risk of business failures and to provide reasonable assurance against such failures. However, this is not a guarantee that such risks 
are eliminated. 

Responsibility 

It is the duty of the Audit Committee, inter alia, to monitor and review on a Company and Group (Company, Group or Company and Group) basis: 

 the effectiveness of the internal audit function, see –Internal Audit (below); 

 auditor suitability and recommendation for appointment, see –Auditor suitability review (below); 

 auditor independence and fees, see –Auditor independence and fees (below); 

 reports of both internal and external auditors; 

 evaluation of the expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO); 

 financial reporting systems and ensure that reporting procedures are functioning properly; 

 the governance of information technology (IT) and the effectiveness of the Company and Group’s information systems; 

 interim results and report (“Interim Report”), quarterly operating reports, company and consolidated annual financial statements 
(“Audited AFS”) and all other widely distributed financial documents; 

 the Form 20-F filing with the SEC; 

 accounting policies of the Company and Group and proposed revisions; 

 compliance with applicable legislation, requirements of appropriate regulatory authorities and Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s Code of 
Ethics; 

 the integrity of the content of Interim Report, Audited AFS and the integrated annual report and associated reports (“IAR”) and then 
recommending same to the Board for approval; and 

 policies and procedures for preventing and detecting fraud. 

Access and meetings 

Internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee Chairman and the Chairman of the Board, 
ensuring that auditors are able to maintain their independence. Both the internal and external auditors report at Audit Committee meetings. The 
Audit Committee meets with both internal and external auditors separately on a quarterly basis without other invitees being present. Management 
attend Audit Committee meetings by invitation. 

Annual financial statements of the Company 

The Committee has reviewed and is satisfied that the Company Audited AFS, including accounting policies, are appropriate and comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting 
Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well as the requirements of the South African Companies Act and   
JSE LR. 

The significant audit and accounting matter in respect of the Company Audited AFS during the financial year related to the accounting 
implications of the scheme of arrangement (Scheme) between Sibanye Gold Limited (SGL) and Sibanye Stillwater. This matter was addressed by 
management and by the Audit Committee on a review basis as follows: 
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The accounting 
implications of the 
Scheme  

 

For the year ended 31 December 2020, management considered the financial reporting impacts of the Scheme as 
follows: 

 determined whether the acquisition of SGL represents a business combination as defined by IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations; and 

  at the effective date of the Scheme determined the value at which the issue of shares should be recorded. 

Management determined that the acquisition of SGL did not represent a business combination as defined by IFRS 3 
Business Combinations and that the issue of shares at the effective date of the Scheme be recorded at an amount 
equal to the net asset value of the unconsolidated SGL company at that date (R17,661 million). 

Auditor suitability review 

In terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act, each year at its annual general meeting (AGM), the Company must appoint an external audit firm 
and designated individual partner that complies with the requirements of section 90(2) of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

In terms of the JSE LR, the Audit Committee has the responsibility to review the Company’s current appointed audit firm and designated 
individual audit partner for re-appointment. After such review, the Audit Committee makes a recommendation to the Board, and the Board in turn 
considers same and then makes a recommendation to shareholders in the notice of AGM. 

Accordingly, in compliance with paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE LR, the Audit Committee assessed the suitability for reappointment of the current 
appointed audit firm, being Ernst & Young Inc., and the designated individual partner, being Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson (Auditor Suitability 
Review). 

The Auditor Suitability Review performed by the Audit Committee included an examination and review of: 

 the results of the most recent Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA) inspections of Ernst & Young Inc., including the 
responses of the firm on observations / findings on the firm and selected audit files raised by IRBA;  

 the results of the most recent IRBA inspection of the designated individual auditor;  

 a summary of the audit firms ISQC 1 internal inspection process and the process to analyse and conclude on the results of the internal 
inspection; 

 a summary of the outcome of the designated individual auditor’s latest internal quality review; 

 the results of the most recent Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) inspection review of Ernst & Young Inc.; and 

 a summary and results of all legal and disciplinary proceedings concluded within the past seven years, which were instituted in terms of 
any legislation or by any professional body of which the audit firm and/or designated individual auditor are a member or regulator to 
whom they are accountable, including where the matter is settled by consent order or payment of a fine. 

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself that both Ernst & Young Inc. and Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson are accredited in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements. Based on the results of the Auditor Suitability Review and a review of the independence of Ernst & Young Inc. and the designated 
individual audit partner, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that Ernst & Young Inc. be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company 
and that Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson be reappointed as the designated individual partner. The Board concurred with the recommendation. 

Auditor independence and fees 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for determining that the external audit firm and designated individual audit partner have the necessary 
independence, experience, qualifications and skills, and that audit and other fees are reviewed and approved. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed and assessed the independence of the external auditor, who have confirmed in writing that the criteria for 
independence, as set out in the rules of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, and 
other relevant international bodies, have been followed. The Audit Committee is satisfied that Ernst & Young Inc. is independent of the Company 
and Group.  

The Audit Committee determines the nature and extent of non-audit services that the auditor can provide and pre-approves all permitted non-
audit assignments by the Group’s independent external auditor. In accordance with the SEC rules regarding auditor independence, the Audit 
Committee has established policies and procedures for audit and non-audit services provided by the Group’s independent external auditor. The 
rules apply to Sibanye Stillwater Limited and it’s legally controlled unlisted subsidiaries engaging any accounting firms for audit services and the 
auditor who audits the consolidated Audited AFS filed with the SEC (the Group’s independent external auditor) for permissible non-audit services. 
When engaging the Group’s independent external auditor for permissible non-audit services (audit related services, tax services, and all other 
services), pre-approval is obtained prior to the commencement of the services. 

The Audit Committee approves the respective annual audit plans presented by both the internal and external auditors and monitors progress 
against the plans. These audit plans provide the Audit Committee with the necessary assurance on risk management, internal control 
environments and IT governance.  
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Internal Audit 

The internal control systems of the Company are monitored by Internal Audit, which reports findings and recommendations to the Audit 
Committee and to senior management. The Audit Committee determines the purpose, authority and responsibility of the Internal Audit function in 
an Internal Audit Charter. The Internal Audit function is headed by the Vice President: Internal Audit, who may be appointed or dismissed by the 
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the incumbent Vice President: Internal Audit has the requisite skills and experience and 
that she is supported by a sufficient staff complement with appropriate skills and training. 

Sibanye Stillwater’s Internal Audit operates in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing as 
prescribed by the Institute of Internal Auditors. Internal Audit activities carried out during the year were identified and planned through a 
combination of the Sibanye Stillwater Risk Management framework and the risk-based methodologies adopted by Internal Audit. The Audit 
Committee approves the annual internal audit assurance plan presented by Internal Audit and monitors progress against the plan. 

Internal Audit reports deficiencies to the Audit Committee every quarter together with recommended remedial actions, which are then followed up. 
Internal Audit provided the Audit Committee with a written report, which assessed as adequate the internal controls over financial reporting, IT 
governance and the risk management process during 2020. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for IT governance on behalf of the Board and reviews the report of the Vice President: Group ICT at each 
Audit Committee meeting. 

JSE LR 

In accordance with the JSE LR, the Audit Committee reports and confirms that it has:  

 evaluated the expertise, experience and performance of the Company and Group CFO during 2020 and is satisfied that he has the 
appropriate expertise and experience to carry out his duties, and is supported by qualified and competent senior staff; 

 ensured that the Company has established appropriate financial reporting procedures and that those procedures are operating and that 
management had access to all the required financial information to allow the effective preparation and report on Company AFS; 

 has performed the Auditor Suitability Review of both the current appointed external audit firm and designated individual audit partner as 
detailed above; and 

 notwithstanding the provisions of Section 90(6) of the Companies Act, ensured that the proposed re-appointment of the audit firm and 
designated individual partner is presented and included as a resolution in notice of annual general meeting pursuant to Section 61(8) of 
the Companies Act.  

Audit Committee statement 

Based on information from, and discussions with, management and external auditors, the Audit Committee has no reason to believe that there 
were any material breakdowns in the design and operating effectiveness of internal financial controls of the Company during the year and that the 
financial records may be relied upon as the basis for preparation of the Company Audited AFS.  

The Audit Committee has considered and discussed the Company Audited AFS and associated reports with both management and the external 
auditors. 

During this process, the Audit Committee: 

 evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions; 

 determined that the going-concern basis of reporting is appropriate; 

 evaluated the material factors and risks that could impact on the Company Audited AFS; 

 evaluated the completeness of the financial and sustainability discussion and disclosures; and 

 discussed the treatment of significant and unusual transactions with management and the external auditors. 

The Audit Committee considers that the Company Audited AFS comply in all material respects with all compliance requirements detailed earlier in 
this report. The Audit Committee recommended to the Board that Company Audited AFS be adopted and approved by the Board. The Board 
subsequently adopted and approved the Company Audited AFS. 

 
Keith Rayner CA(SA) 
Chairman: Audit Committee 
22 April 2021 
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

Company profile and nature of business 

Sibanye Stillwater Limited (“the Company”) is an investment holding company, which commenced trading during the 2020 financial year. The 
Company became the ultimate holding company of the Sibanye Stillwater Group after effecting the scheme of arrangement on 24 February 2020 
with Sibanye Gold Limited (SGL) see –Notes to the financial statements–Note 1.2: Scheme of arrangement. 

The date of incorporation was 7 November 2014. The Company changed its name during the prior period from Sibanye Resources Proprietary 
Limited to Sibanye Stillwater Limited. The change in the Company’s nature from a private company to a public company became effective on 6 
July 2018. 

Financial affairs 

Results for the year 

The Company commenced trading during 2020 and realised a profit of R20,404 million from investment income. 

Dividends 

Sibanye Stillwater Limited declared a final dividend of 321 SA cents (2019: nil) per share, together with the interim dividend of 50 SA cents (2019: 
nil) per share (declared and paid), this brings the total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 to 371 SA cents (2019: nil) per share.  

Borrowing powers 

In terms of Clause 4 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the borrowing powers of Sibanye Stillwater Limited (the Company) are 
unlimited. As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no borrowings.  

Events after reporting date 

There were no events that could have a material impact on the financial results of the Company after 31 December 2020, other than those 
disclosed in the company financial statements, see –Notes to the financial statements–Note 11: Events after the reporting date. 

Working capital and going concern assessment 

The Company financial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgements and 
estimates. The directors believe that the Company has adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 

The Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, therefore, have been prepared on a going concern basis, see –Notes 
to the financial statements–Note 10: Risk management activities. 

Significant announcements 

Results of the Sibanye Gold Limited Shareholder meeting to approve the scheme relating to the internal restructuring of 
Sibanye Gold Limited - 23 January 2020 

On 4 October 2019, Sibanye Gold Limited (trading as Sibanye-Stillwater) SGL and Sibanye-Stillwater announced the commencement of an 
internal restructuring process to create a new holding company and listings for the Group to be effected by way of a scheme of arrangement (the 
“Scheme”),  

On 23 January 2020, Sibanye Gold Limited and Sibanye Stillwater Limited announced that all resolutions for the approval of the Scheme, were 
passed by the requisite majority voters at the Scheme Meeting held at the Sibanye Gold Limited Academy. The Scheme was implemented on 24 
February 2020. For additional information, see –Company financial statements–Notes to the company financial statements– Note 1:Accounting 
Policies-1.2 Scheme of arrangement. 

Sibanye-Stillwater changes NYSE ticker symbol from SBGL to SBSW to highlight new corporate structure and 
diversified asset mix - 27 February 2020 

On 27 February 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited advised that the closing bell was rung at the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) at 16:00 EST / 
23:00 CET, to celebrate the change of its ticker symbol from SBGL to SBSW, following an internal restructuring and name change, which was first 
announced on February 24 2020. 
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Change in Directorate - 27 March 2020 

On 27 March 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited announced in terms of Section 3.59 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, the Sibanye 
Stillwater Board was pleased to announce the appointment of Dr Elaine Dorward-King as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
with immediate effect. 

 

Optional redemption notice issued to the holders of Sibanye Gold Limited’s USD450,000,000 1.875 per cent convertible 
bonds due 2023 - 18 September 2020 
On 18 September 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited advised that its wholly owned subsidiary, Sibanye Gold Limited, on 18 September 2020 
exercised its option on its USD450,000,000 1.875 per cent convertible bonds due 2023 in line with the terms and conditions (the “Conditions”) to 
redeem all outstanding Bonds on 19 October 2020 (the “Optional Redemption Date”) at their principal amount, together with accrued but unpaid 
interest up to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date. The current aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding was 
USD383,800,000.00. 

Holders of outstanding Bonds were entitled, in terms of the Conditions, to each exercise a right on the redemption of the Bonds to convert the 
Bonds into ordinary shares of the Company (the “Conversion Rights”). Bondholders were expected to exercise their Conversion Rights and if all 
such Conversion Rights were exercised, this would have resulted in the issuance of up to 248,430,319 ordinary shares of the Company, as 
previously approved by the shareholders. Should some Bondholders have failed to exercise their Conversion Rights, the Issuer would have 
redeemed the remaining Bonds from its cash resources. 

 

Proposed Odd-lot Offer, as Specific Offer, distribution of the Circular and Notice of the General Meeting - 2 November 
2020 

On 2 November 2020, Sibanye Stillwater advised that the Board of directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited wished to make an offer to certain 
holders of Sibanye Stillwater Limited ordinary shares, via an Odd-lot offer (“Odd-lot Offer”) to holders of fewer than 100 Sibanye Stillwater Limited 
Shares (“Odd-lot Holders”) and a specific repurchase in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 
2008 (”Specific Offer”) to holders of 100 Sibanye Stillwater Limited Shares or more but equal to or fewer than 400 Sibanye Stillwater Limited 
Shares (“Specific Holders”), (collectively, “Offers”). 

As at 30 September 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited had approximately 30,000 ordinary shareholders, which reflected nearly a 60% increase in 
the total number of Sibanye Stillwater Limited shareholders (“Shareholders”) compared to the period prior to the acquisition by Sibanye Gold 
Limited of the entire issued share capital of Lonmin Plc on 10 June 2019. The aggregate shareholding in Sibanye Stillwater Limited of 
Shareholders who own fewer than 400 ordinary shares in Sibanye Stillwater Limited (“Sibanye Stillwater Shares”) represented approximately 50% 
of the number of total Shareholders and 0.05% of all Sibanye Stillwater Shares in issue. 

Shareholders were therefore advised of the Company’s intention to implement an Odd-lot Offer and a Specific Offer to Odd-lot Holders and 
Specific Holders, respectively (collectively, “Offer Holders”). 

 

Finalisation announcement in relation to the proposed Odd-lot Offer and a Specific Offer- 11 December 2020 

On 28 December 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited announced that Sibanye Stillwater Limited shareholders (“Shareholders”) are referred to the 
Stock Exchange News Service announcement dated 2 November 2020 wherein the board of directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited advised of its 
intention to make an odd-lot offer (“Odd-lot Offer”) to Shareholders holding fewer than 100 Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares (“Odd-lot Holders”), 
and a specific offer (”Specific Offer”) to Shareholders holding 100 Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares or more but equal to or fewer than 400 
Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares (“Specific Holders”), (collectively, “Offers”). 

Sibanye-Stillwater further announced that implementing the Offers will result in the repurchase by the Company of the Sibanye Stillwater Limited 
shares from the Odd-lot Holders and Specific Holders (“Offer Holders”), at an offer price determined as outlined and that the Cash Consideration 
paid by Sibanye Stillwater Limited pursuant to the Offer Shares will constitute a “dividend” as defined in section 1 of the South African Income Tax 
Act, in the hands of such Shareholder as no portion of the repurchase price will consist of contributed tax capital. The Offers will give rise to a 
liability for DWT at a rate of 20% in the event that the Offer Holder does not qualify for an exemption from DWT or in the case of non-resident 
Shareholder, is not subject to a reduced rate of DWT in terms of the Double Taxation Agreement between South Africa and the non-resident 
Shareholder’s country of residence. In the event that the Offer Holder does not qualify for an exemption or reduced DWT rate, the net Offer Price 
will be ZAR45.78431, being ZAR57.23039 less 20% DWT. 

Appointment of Non-Executive Director – 21 December 2020 

On 21 December 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited announced In terms of Section 3.59 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, the 
Sibanye Stillwater Limited Board was pleased to announce the appointment of Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa (Sindi) as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Group with effect from 1 January 2021. 
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Results of Odd-lot Offer and Specific offer – 28 December 2020 

On 28 December 2020, Sibanye Stillwater Limited announced that Sibanye Stillwater Limited shareholders (“Shareholders”) are referred to the 
circular to Shareholders dated 2 November 2020, which contained details regarding the odd-lot offer (“Odd-lot Offer”) to Shareholders holding 
fewer than 100 Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares (“Odd-lot Holders”) and a specific offer (”Specific Offer”) to Shareholders holding 100 Sibanye 
Stillwater Limited shares or more but equal to or fewer than 400 Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares (“Specific Holders”), (collectively, “Offers”). 
Shareholders were further referred to the General Meeting of Shareholders held on 1 December 2020, and the subsequent announcements 
released on the Stock Exchange News Service on (i) 1 December 2020, advising the voting results of the General Meeting; and (ii) 11 December 
2020, advising the finalisation details relating to the Offers. 

Accordingly, Sibanye Stillwater Limited announced that it will repurchase and cancel a total of Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares, representing 
approximately 0.05% of the total issued share capital of the Company, for a total offer consideration of R81,907,962.47. The cancellation and 
termination of listing of Sibanye Stillwater Limited shares repurchased in terms of the Offers was expected on or about 30 December 2020. 

The total issued shares of Sibanye Stillwater Limited was accordingly reduced from 2,925,001,704 to 2,923,570,507. The requisite payments of 
cash consideration to Odd-lot Holders and Specific Holders pursuant to the Offers was made on 28 December 2020. 

 

Sibanye Stillwater Limited secures entry into the battery metals sector through a partnership with and investment into 
Keliber, a leading European lithium company – 23 February 2021 

Johannesburg, 23 February 2021, the Company announced that it has entered into an investment agreement with Keliber Oy and that the 
Transaction is expected to be implemented in March 2021, subject to the approval by the South African Reserve Bank. 

Directorate 

Following the scheme of arrangement between Sibanye Gold Limited and Sibanye Stillwater Limited, which was implemented on 24 February 
2020, there were various changes in directors to the board of Sibanye Stillwater Limited. On the date of implementing the Scheme, the existing 
directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited resigned and the directors of Sibanye Gold Limited were appointed to the board of Sibanye Stillwater 
Limited. In addition, Non-independent, non-executive directors Messrs Wang Bin and Lu Jiongjie resigned on 27 March 2020. Messrs Elaine 
Dorward-King and Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa were appointed as independent non-executive directors on 27 March 2020 and 1 January 2021 
respectively. The table below sets out the changes in directors of Sibanye Stillwater Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

       
Name     Position Date appointed Date resigned 

Thabo Vincent Maphai1     Chairman and independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Neal Froneman1     Chief Executive Officer 24 February 2020  

Charl Keyter1     Chief Financial Officer 24 February 2020  

Timothy Cumming1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Savannah Danson1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Harry Kenyon-Slaney1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Richard Menell1     Lead Independent and non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Nkosemntu Nika1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Keith Rayner1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Susan van der Merwe1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Jerry Vilakazi1     Independent non-executive director 24 February 2020  

Elaine Dorward-King3     Independent non-executive director 27 March 2020  

Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa3     Independent non-executive director 01 January 2021  

Wang Bin2     Non-independent non-executive director 24 February 2020 27 March 2020 

Lu Jiongjie2     Non-independent non-executive director 24 February 2020 27 March 2020 

Cheryl van Zyl4     Non-independent executive director 21 May 2018 24 February 2020 

Martin van der Walt4     Non-independent executive director 13 August 2019 24 February 2020 

Pieter Henning4     Non-independent executive director 15 May 2019 24 February 2020 

Philip van der Westhuizen4     Non-independent executive director 21 May 2018 24 February 2020 
1 Director appointed to the board of Sibanye Stillwater Limited on 24 February 2020 pursuant to the scheme of arrangement 
2 Messrs Wang Bin and Lu Jiongjie have been appointed as Non-Independent, Non-Executive Directors to the Company’s Board with effect from 24 February 2020. 

They resigned on 27 March 2020 
3 Messrs Elaine Dorward-King and Sindiswa Victoria Zilwa have been appointed as Independent, Non-Executive Directors to the board of Sibanye Stillwater Limited 

with effect from 27 March 2020 and 1 January 2021, respectively  
4  Messrs Cheryl van Zyl, Martin van der Walt, Pieter Henning and Philip van der Westhuizen have resigned as Non-Independent, Executive Directors from the board 

of Sibanye Stillwater Limited on 24 February 2020, pursuant to the scheme of arrangement   

Rotation of directors 

Directors retiring in terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) are Richard Menell, Keith Rayner, Jerry Vilakazi and Sindiswa 
Zilwa. All the directors are eligible and offer themselves for re-election.  
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Directors’ and officers’ disclosure of interest in contracts 

As of the date of this report, none of the directors, officers or major shareholders of the Company or, to the knowledge of its  management, their 
families, had any interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction during the last fiscal year or in any proposed transaction which has affected or will 
materially affect the Company or its investment interests or subsidiaries. None of the directors or officers of the Company or any associate of such 
director or officer is currently or has been at any time during the past fiscal year materially indebted to the Company. 

Litigation 

There were no litigation matters against the Company at 31 December 2020.  

Company Secretary 

Lerato Matlosa was appointed Company Secretary of Sibanye Stillwater Limited with effect from 1 June 2018. 

Auditors 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Ernst & Young Inc. continues in office in accordance with section 90(1) of the 
Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, subject to shareholders approving the resolution at the next annual general 
meeting. Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson is the designated group audit engagement partner, accredited by the JSE, for Sibanye Stillwater Limited. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

To the Shareholders of Sibanye Stillwater Limited  

 

Report on the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements 

 

Opinion  

 

We have audited the separate financial statements of Sibanye Stillwater Limited (‘the company’) set out on pages 13 - 29 which comprise the 

separate statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the separate statement of profit or loss, the separate statement of changes 

in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, the separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the separate financial position of the company as at 31 

December 2020, and its separate financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.  

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) 

and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements of the company and in South Africa. We have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 

audits of the company and in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 

Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the separate financial statements 

of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming 

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 

the matter is provided in that context.  

 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the separate financial statements section of our 

report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed 

to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying separate financial statements. 

  

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Accounting of Scheme of arrangement transaction 

 

The Company’s investment in Sibanye Gold Limited as at 31 

December 2020 was R17, 660,652 million. As discussed in Note 

6 to the financial statements, on 4 October 2019 Sibanye Gold 

Limited (SGL) and Sibanye-Stillwater Limited, (a previously 

dormant wholly owned subsidiary of SGL), announced the 

intention to implement a scheme of arrangement to reorganise 

SGL’s operations under a new parent company, Sibanye-

Stillwater (the “Scheme”). The Scheme was implemented on 24 

February 2020 (“effective date”). 

 

Auditing the scheme of arrangement transaction included the 

assessment of complex accounting principles applied to the 

transaction, which required significant attention due to the lack of 

specific accounting guidance on these transactions. 

 

In addition, significant audit effort was required to determine the 

value of Sibanye Stillwater Limited’s investment in Sibanye Gold 

Limited. The investment in Sibanye Gold Limited was based on 

the net asset value of Sibanye Gold Limited on the effective date 

Our audit of the scheme of arrangement transaction included the 

following procedures: 

• We evaluated the Company’s accounting technical memorandum 

addressing the recognition and valuation method of the scheme of 

arrangement transaction from a Sibanye Stillwater Limited statutory 

entity perspective.  

• We assessed the value of the investment held by Sibanye Stillwater 

Limited in Sibanye Gold Limited on the effective date.  

• We performed analytical procedures on the Sibanye Gold Limited 

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019 relative to the 

Statement of Financial Position on the effective date and identified 

transactions that gave rise to significant changes.  

We also performed specific procedures on these transactions as follows: 

- Sampling transactions before and after the effective date to 

confirm that the transactions were recorded in the correct period.  

- As part of our evaluation of instruments recorded at fair value, 

we compared the inputs to internal and external data for both fair 
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 

of the transaction which required specific focused procedures at 

the date of the transaction not ordinarily required. 

 

The additional procedures at that date required substantial audit 

effort in the form of analyzing the reasonability of the movement 

since the previous audit, additional specific procedures 

determined by our risk assessment on the balances, and a review 

of management’s valuation specialist reports in respect of some 

of the significant fair value instruments at that date. In addition, 

the effective date did not coincide with the month end process 

resulting in management adjustments to determine the net asset 

value which required additional audit effort and discussions in 

respect of the pro-rata adjustments. 

value models and transactions based on spot pricing on the 

effective date.               

- We assessed the adjustments posted to remove the impact of 

any post effective date income statement and other 

comprehensive income movements by recalculating the 

prorated profit or loss attributable to the net asset value.  

• We considered the adequacy of the Company’s disclosures relating to 

the scheme of arrangement in the Sibanye Stillwater Limited statutory 

financial statements in terms of the relevant accounting standards.   

 

Other Information  

 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 30-page document titled 

“Company Financial Statements 2020”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s 

Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the separate financial statements and our 

auditor’s reports thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Separate Financial Statements 

 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine 

is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 

liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate financial statements.  

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  

 

 

We also: 

 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 

audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.  

 



 

12 

 

 

 

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

the directors.  

 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as 

a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to 

continue as a going concern.  

 

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 

separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the separate financial 

statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 

in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.  

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Ernst & Young Incorporated 

has been the auditor of Sibanye Stillwater Limited for two years. 

 

Ernst & Young Incorporated 

Director – Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson 

Registered Auditor 

Chartered Accountant (SA) 

102 Rivonia Road, Sandton 

Johannesburg, South Africa  

 

22 April 2021 
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Figures in million - SA rand Notes 2020 2019 
Investment income 4  20,448.6  - 
- Interest income  161.0  - 
- Other investment income  20,287.6  - 
Profit before tax   20,448.6  - 
Income tax 5.1  (45.1)  - 
Profit for the period1   20,403.5  - 
1 Profit for the period equals total comprehensive income as there was no other comprehensive income for the 2020 or 2019 financial years 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements. 
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Figures in million - SA rand Notes 2020 2019 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets   49,341.1  - 
Investments in subsidiaries 6  36,736.1  - 
Related party loans 9.2  12,605.0  - 
    
Current assets   45.1  -* 
Related party loans 9.2  45.1  - 
Cash and cash equivalents1   -*  -* 
    
Total assets   49,386.2  -* 
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Total equity and reserves   49,341.1  -* 
Stated share capital 7  30,149.8  -* 
Share-based payment reserve 8  125.9  - 
Accumulated profit   19,065.4  - 
    
Current Liabilities   45.1  - 
Tax payable 5.2  45.1  - 
    
Total equity and liabilities   49,386.2  -* 
1 Consist of petty cash balance 

* Less than R0.1 million 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements. 
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  Share- 
 Stated based  
 share payment  Accumulated  Total 
Figures in million - SA rand Notes capital  reserve  profit  equity  
Balance at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019   -*  -  -  -* 
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period   -  -  20,403.5  20,403.5 
Reorganisation - 24 February 2020 7  17,660.7    17,660.7 
Shares issued upon conversion of SGL's US$ Convertible Bond 9.2  12,573.2    12,573.2 
Share buy-back1   (84.1)  -  (84.1)
Dividends paid 3  -  -  (1,338.1)  (1,338.1)
Share-based payments 6,8  -  125.9  -  125.9 
Balance at 31 December 2020   30,149.8  125.9  19,065.4  49,341.1 

      
1 The Company entered into a repurchase and cancellation of shares agreement with certain shareholders which resulted in the total issued shares of the Company decreasing by 1,431,197 shares (refer note 7) 
*  Less than R0.1 million 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these company financial statements. 
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1.      Accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.  Where an accounting 
policy is specific to a note, the policy is described in the note which it relates to. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented (where applicable). 

1.1     Reporting entity 

Sibanye Stillwater Limited (SSW or the Company) is an investment holding company domiciled in South Africa. These separate annual 
financial statements include the results of SSW on a stand-alone company basis. 

1.2     Scheme of arrangement 

On 4 October 2019 Sibanye Gold Limited (SGL) and SSW, a previously dormant wholly owned subsidiary of SGL, announced the intention 
to implement a scheme of arrangement to reorganise SGL’s operations under a new parent company, SSW (the “Scheme”). The Scheme 
was implemented on 24 February 2020 through the issue of SSW shares in exchange for the existing shares of SGL (refer note 7 for detail 
regarding the Scheme and ordinary shares in issue of SSW). 

1.3     Basis of preparation 

The company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting 
Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well as the requirements of the South African Companies Act 
and JSE Listings Requirements. The company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (the functional currency) which is South African rand. The company financial statements are also presented in South 
African rand, which is the Company’s presentation currency. The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s 
directors on 22 April 2021. 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards  

During the financial year, the following new and revised accounting standards and amendments to standards became effective and had no 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements: 
   
Pronouncement Details of amendments Effective date1 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors 
(Amendments)    

The amendments clarify and align the definition of ‘material’ and provide 
guidance to help improve consistency in the application of that concept 
whenever it is used in IFRS. 

1 January 2020 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
(IFRS 3) (Amendment)  

The IASB issued amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3 help 
entities determine whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a 
business or not. 

1 January 2020 

The revised Conceptual Framework 
for Financial Reporting  

The Conceptual Framework is to assist the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) in developing standards, to help preparers develop 
consistent accounting policies if there is no applicable standard in place and 
to assist all parties to understand and interpret the standards. Key changes 
include: 

 increasing the prominence of stewardship in the objective of financial 
reporting; 

 defining a reporting entity, which may be a legal entity, or a portion of 
an entity; 

 revising the definitions of an asset and a liability; 

 removing the probability threshold for recognition and adding guidance 
on derecognition; 

 adding guidance on different measurement basis; and 

 stating that profit or loss is the primary performance indicator and that, 
in principle, income and expenses in other comprehensive income 
should be recycled where this enhances the relevance or faithful 
representation of the financial statements. 

1 January 2020 
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No changes will be made to any of the current accounting standards. 

1 Effective date refers to annual period beginning on or after said date 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards which are not yet effective 

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that apply to the Company’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 but have not been early adopted by the Company. The standards, amendments 
and interpretations that are applicable to the Company are: 
   
Pronouncement Details of amendments Effective date1 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 
Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 
16  

Interbank offered rates (IBOR) reform refers to the global reform of interest 
rate benchmarks, which includes the replacement of some interbank offered 
rates (IBOR) with alternative benchmark rates. IBOR reform will generally 
result in a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of 
that financial asset or financial liability. The Company will assess the impact 
on the balances and cash flows linked to rate changes arising from IBOR 
reform when more information is available on the quoted rates that will 
replace current IBOR. 

1 January 2021 

Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework – Amendments to IFRS 
3 2 

Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 to update the references to the 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and add an exception for the 
recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and IFRIC 21 
Levies. The amendments also confirm that contingent assets should not be 
recognised at the acquisition date. 

1 January 2022 

Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current 
(Amendments to IAS 1) 2 

To promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on 
determining if a liability is current or non-current, the IASB has amended IAS 
1 to clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, 
depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. 
Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after 
the reporting date (e.g. the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The 
amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means when it refers to the “settlement” 
of a liability. 

1 January 2023 

1 Effective date refers to annual period beginning on or after said date 
2 No material impact expected 

1.4    Transactions with shareholders of the Company 

Transactions with owners in the capacity as equity participants are not recognised in profit or loss, but instead are recognised in equity 
with a corresponding change in assets or liabilities. 

2.      Statement of cash flows, segment report and earnings per share  

No statement of cash flows is presented as the Company does not have a bank account. Therefore, all transactions that occurred during 
the year were charged to an intercompany loan account with SGL (refer note 9.2). Any administrative expenses were borne by SGL and all 
transactions reflected on the income statement and statement of financial position are non-cash in nature. There was no flow of cash 
during the current and prior year. 

Since the Company presents both separate and consolidated financial statements, filed in separate reports on the same day, no earnings 
per share, diluted earnings per share, headline earnings per share and diluted headline earnings per share is presented. The Company 
also had no operating segments and accordingly no segment report is presented.  

3.      Dividends 

In line with the SSW group’s (the Group) strategic priority of deleveraging and the commitment to shareholder returns, the Board of 
Directors of the Company resolved after the financial year end to pay a final dividend of 321 SA cents per share. Together with the interim 
dividend of 50 SA cents per share, which was declared and paid during the 2020 financial year, this brings the total dividend for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 to 371 cents per share. The interim dividends declared and paid to SSW shareholders were funded by a 
dividend declared by SGL to SSW. Since SSW does not have a bank account, SGL was instructed to pay the dividend over to SSW’s 
shareholders instead and thereby settled the dividend declared on behalf of SSW. 
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4.      Investment income 

Accounting policy 

Investment income comprises interest income on intercompany loans receivable and dividends received from subsidiaries, which include 
in specie dividends received. Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised on the date 
that the Company’s right to receive payment is established. In specie dividends received as a result of common control group transactions 
are recognised at the carrying amount of the asset received on the effective date of distribution. 
    

Figures in million - SA rand 2020 2019 
In specie dividend received from Sibanye Platinum Proprietary Limited (SPPL)1   18,949.5  - 
Intercompany dividends received2   1,338.1  - 
Intercompany interest received from subsidiaries   161.0  - 
Balance at end of the year   20,448.6  - 
1 Refer note 6 
2 SGL declared a dividend to the Company as part of the mechanism to fund the dividend paid by SSW to its shareholders (refer note 3) 

5.      Income tax 

Accounting policy 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax (if any). Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is measured on taxable income at the applicable statutory rate enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and is 
the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences existing at each reporting date between the tax values of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. Enacted and substantively enacted tax rates are used to 
determine future anticipated effective tax rates which in turn are used in the determination of deferred tax. 

These temporary differences are expected to result in taxable or deductible amounts in determining taxable profits for future periods when 
the carrying amount of the asset is recovered or the liability is settled. 

Deferred tax is not recognised for: 

 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, and interests in associates and joint ventures to the extent that the 
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that these will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future; and 

 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets relating to the carry forward of unutilised tax losses and/or unutilised capital allowances are recognised to the extent it 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unutilised tax losses and/or unutilised capital allowances can be 
recovered. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted if recovery is no longer probable. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 

Company tax rate 

The Company is subject to the maximum South African company tax rate of 28%. 

5.1     Income tax 
    

Figures in million - SA rand 2020 2019 
Income tax expense   (45.1)  - 
Total income tax   (45.1)  - 

Reconciliation of the Company’s income tax to the South African statutory company tax rate of 28%: 
    

Figures in million - SA rand 2020 2019 
Tax on profit before tax at maximum South African statutory company tax rate (28%)  (5,725.6)  - 
Non-taxable dividends received   5,680.5  - 
Income tax expense   (45.1)  - 
Effective tax rate  0.2%  - 
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5.2    Tax payable 
    

Figures in million - SA rand 2020 2019 
Balance at beginning of the year   -  - 
Current tax charge   45.1  - 
Balance at end of the year   45.1  - 

6.      Investments in subsidiaries 

Accounting policy 

Investments in subsidiaries 

The carrying amount of a subsidiary is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In specie distributions of investments 
received from subsidiaries are considered to be group transactions under common control. These distributions are recognised at the 
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements of the relevant subsidiary at the date of distribution and 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 

The carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists, the investment’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an investment in subsidiary is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. The recoverable amount is estimated considering the net asset value of the 
subsidiary supplemented by unobservable financial information such as estimated future cash flows. An impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
SSW obtained a 100% beneficial interest in SGL on 24 February 2020 when the Scheme was implemented (refer note 7). 

Effective 17 June 2020, SSW and SGL entered into an unbundling agreement wherein SGL unbundled its entire shareholding in SPPL for 
no value to SSW. SSW holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares in SGL, and SGL in turn held 100% of the issued ordinary shares in 
SPPL before the unbundling. The investment in SPPL was recognised at the carrying value of the investment in SGL’s financial 
statements at the effective date of the unbundling being R18,949.5 million, with the credit entry being a non-cash in specie dividend 
received from SGL, which was recognised in profit or loss.   

Investments in subsidiaries 
    

Figures in million - SA rand 2020 2019 
The company has a 100% beneficial holding in:    
SGL1    17,766.8  - 
SPPL   18,949.5  - 
Stillwater Mining Company2,3 (Stillwater)   19.8  - 
Balance at end of the year   36,736.1  - 
1 The increase of the investment in SGL consists of R17,660.7 million arising from the Scheme (refer note 7) and R106.1 million arising from the equity-settled 

share-based payments (refer note 8). A corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve amounting to R106.1 million was recognised 
2 The increase of R19.8 million in the beneficial investment indirectly held in Stillwater through SPPL arises from the equity-settled share-based payments 

(refer note 8). A corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve amounting to R19.8 million was recognised 
3 Stillwater Mining Company is domiciled in the United States of America 

7.      Stated share capital  

Accounting policy 

Ordinary share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a 
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

Authorised share capital 

The Company has an authorised share capital of 10 billion ordinary no par value shares (2019: 10 billion ordinary no par value shares). 

The Scheme 

On 4 October 2019 SGL and SSW, a previously dormant wholly owned subsidiary of SGL, announced the intention to implement a 
scheme of arrangement to reorganise SGL’s operations under a new parent company, SSW (the “Scheme”). The Scheme was 
implemented through the issue of SSW shares (tickers: JSE – SSW and NYSE – SBSW) in exchange for the existing shares of SGL (JSE 
– SGL and NYSE – SBGL). 

On 23 January 2020 SGL and SSW announced that all resolutions for the approval of the Scheme, were passed by the requisite majority 
voters at the Scheme meeting held at the Sibanye Gold Limited Academy. The Scheme was implemented on 24 February 2020. 

From a consolidated group perspective, SSW determined that the acquisition of SGL did not represent a business combination as defined 
by IFRS 3. This is because neither party to the Scheme could be identified as an accounting acquirer in the transaction, and post the 
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implementation there would be no change of economic substance or ownership in the SGL Group. The SGL shareholders have the same 
commercial and economic interest as they had prior to the implementation of the Scheme and no additional new ordinary shares of SGL 
were issued as part of the Scheme.  

In order to effect the reorganisation in the separate financial statements of SSW, the cost of the investment in SGL was measured at the 
carrying amount of the total net assets in the separate financial statements of SGL at the implementation, 24 February 2020, amounting to 
R17,660.7 million (i.e. the total equity of SGL at that date). A corresponding increase in stated share capital was recognised. 

The below table illustrates a roll forward of the ordinary shares in issue of the Company at 31 December 2020:  
    

Figures in thousands 2020 2019 
Reconciliation of issued number of shares:   
Number of shares in issue at beginning of the year1  -* -* 
Scheme implemented2  2,670,030  - 
Shares issued under SSL Share Plan3  6,932  - 
Issued upon conversion of US$ Convertible Bond4  248,040  - 
Shares delisted (share buy-back)5  (1,431)  - 
Number of shares in issue at end of the year   2,923,571 -* 

1 Since the Scheme was retrospectively implemented, the stated share capital presented in the statement of changes in equity reflects the legally issued 
shares of SSW from the earliest period presented, being one ordinary share at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 

2 From 1 January 2020 to 23 February 2020, no shares were issued. The Scheme was implemented on a share-for-share basis with no change in the total 
number of SGL issued listed shares 

3 Upon implementation of the Scheme, the SGL equity-settled share plan was transferred to SSW and is settled in SSW shares from the effective date 
onwards 

4 As a result of the Scheme, the US$ Convertible Bond (the Bond) was settled in SSW shares, even though SGL was the issuer of the Bond. Refer note 9.2 
for more detail regarding the settlement of the Bond and the structure of the loan facility to fund the settlement 

5 SSW entered into a repurchase and cancellation of shares agreement with certain shareholders which resulted in the total issued shares decreasing by 
1,431,197 shares, paid by SGL on behalf of the Company. The average price paid per share amounted to R58.80 

*  Less than one thousand 

8.      Share-based payments 

Accounting policy 

Equity-settled share-based payments 

The Company operates an equity-settled compensation plan in which certain employees of the Group participates. Fair value of equity-
settled instruments granted is estimated using appropriate valuation models and appropriate assumptions at the grant date. Service and 
non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when estimating the fair value of the equity-settled instruments at grant 
date. Market conditions are taken into account in determining the fair value at grant date. 

From the effective date of the Scheme, the grant date fair value of the equity-settled share-based payment instruments is capitalised to 
investments in subsidiaries (refer note 5) where participating employees render services over the vesting period based on an estimate of 
the number of instruments that will eventually vest. A corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve is recognised. Vesting 
assumptions for non-market conditions are reviewed at each reporting date to ensure they reflect current expectations. 

On 21 November 2012, the shareholders of SGL approved the adoption of the SGL 2013 share plan (2013 Share Plan) with effect from 
the date of the listing of SGL. The 2013 Share Plan provided for two methods of participation, namely Bonus Shares and Performance 
Shares. This plan sought to attract, retain, motivate and reward participating employees on a basis which seeks to align the interest of 
such employees with those of the shareholders. On 23 May 2017, the shareholders of SGL approved the adoption of the 2017 share plan 
(2017 Share Plan) on essentially similar terms to the previous 2013 Share Plan. At the annual general meeting on 30 May 2018, the 
directors of SGL were authorised to issue and allot all or any of such shares required for the 2017 Share Plan, up to a maximum not 
exceeding 86,748,850 shares. Under the 2017 Share Plan, an individual participant’s awards were limited to an aggregate 8,674,885 
shares.  

Following the implementation of the Scheme (refer note 7), the terms and conditions of the 2013 and 2017 Share Plan remained the same. 
However, SSW replaced SGL as the company whose shares will be received upon settlement. Since the employees participating in these 
plans only render services to subsidiaries of SSW, share-based payment expenses are recognised as increases in investments in 
subsidiaries with corresponding increases in the share-based payment reserve (refer note 6). Total share-based payment expenses 
recognised in the share-based payment reserve and capitalised to investments in subsidiaries amounted to R125.9 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2020. 

Bonus Shares – as part of the short-term incentive 

The Remuneration Committee makes an annual award of Bonus Shares to eligible participants as a share-based component of the short-
term incentive scheme, with the last awards granted in 2019. 

The total annual bonus was determined by reference to the actual performance rating of the individual against predetermined targets for 
the preceding cycle and was comprised of cash plus the face value of restricted Bonus Shares in the ratio of 60:40. 

In other words, 40% of the annual bonus was awarded using the Company’s shares as the “currency”, as opposed to cash, access to 
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which is deferred. As such, the Bonus Shares vest in two equal tranches, nine months and 18 months after the award date. Except for the 
right to dispose of the shares, participants have full shareholder rights in the unvested Bonus Shares during the restricted period, including 
the right to receive dividends. 

The number of shares awarded is determined by dividing the face value of the Bonus Shares portion of the annual bonus by the volume-
weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares over the three days immediately prior to the award date.  

Performance Shares – for the long-term incentive 

The Remuneration Committee made an annual award of Performance Shares to eligible participants as part of its long-term incentive 
scheme. The last of these awards were granted in 2019. The number of Performance Shares awarded to an employee was based on the 
employee’s annual guaranteed pay and job grade combined with a factor related to the employee’s assessed performance rating for the 
prior year and using the relevant share price calculation (as for the Bonus Shares) at the award date, with ultimate vesting of those awards 
subject to performance conditions as approved by the Remuneration Committee. 

With effect from March 2016, in respect of the award of Performance Shares at that time and at any time thereafter (subject to any future 
agreed changes), an updated methodology was approved by the Remuneration Committee regarding the performance conditions 
applicable to the determination of the amount of Performance Shares that will vest at the end of the vesting period (which is three years 
from the date of the award). 

Essentially, the number of shares that vest depends on the extent to which Sibanye-Stillwater has performed over the intervening three 
year period relative to two performance criteria, Total Shareholder Return (TSR) and Return on Capital Employed (ROCE). These are 
among the most widely acceptable vesting performance measures suited to aligning the outcome of long-term share incentive awards with 
shareholders’ interests. 

In addition, at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee, up to 20% of the determined number of vesting shares using the two 
performance criteria is liable to forfeiture in the event of any extreme environmental, social, and governance (ESG) incidents occurring 
during the vesting period. 

The number of the Performance Shares awarded that will finally vest three years after the award will range between 0% and 100% 
dependent on the extent to which the two performance criteria have been met and whether the Remuneration Committee has applied its 
further discretion to reduce the award on the basis mentioned above. 

The details of these two performance conditions are provided below. 

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) – 70% Weighting 

TSR has been widely recognised as an appropriate indicator of shareholder value creation. It is used extensively internationally and 
increasingly in South Africa, sometimes as a single metric but most often as one of two or three weighted performance metrics. In some 
company share plans, an absolute target is set, but more often it is referenced in relation to the company’s share price relative to those of 
a group of peers or ‘comparator companies’. 

In Sibanye-Stillwater’s case, the TSR element is measured against a benchmark of eight peer group mining and resource companies that 
can be deemed to collectively represent an alternative investment portfolio for Sibanye-Stillwater’s shareholders (Peer Group). The Peer 
Group comprises similar market capitalisation companies that are reflective of the expected positioning of the Company over the medium 
term as a value driven multi-commodity resources company with a specific focus on gold and platinum.  

The Peer Group is set out in the table below. 
 

Peer group companies for TSR comparison 
AngloGold Ashanti Limited  
Anglo American Platinum Limited 
Gold Fields Limited  
Impala Platinum Holdings Limited 
Northam Platinum Limited 
Exxaro Resources Limited 
Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited  
African Rainbow Minerals Limited 

 

SSW’s TSR over the vesting period is compared with the Peer Group TSR curve constructed on a market capitalisation weighted basis in 
the following manner. The annualised TSR over the vesting period (TSRANN) is determined for each of the companies in the Peer Group. 
The Peer Group companies are sorted from lowest to highest TSRANN. The average market capitalisation based on daily closing price is 
determined for each company, and each peer company is assigned its proportion of the overall average market capitalisation of the Peer 
Group. The peer company TSR curve is plotted at the midpoint of each company’s percentage of Peer Group market capitalisation on a 
cumulative basis above the worse performing companies in the Peer Group. In the event that one or more of the peer companies become 
ineligible for comparison, a peer company curve based on the companies remaining in the Peer Group is utilised. 

The cumulative position of SSW’s TSRANN is then mapped onto the TSR curve for the Peer Group to determine the percentile at which 
SSW performed over the vesting period. The performance curve governing vesting is set out in the table below with linear interpolation 
applied between the indicated levels. 
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TSR element of performance conditions  
Percentile on peer group TSR curve % vesting 

0% 0% 
10% 0% 
20% 0% 
30% 5% 
40% 20% 
50% 35% 
60% 55% 
70% 75% 
80% 90% 
90% 100% 
100% 100% 

Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) – 30% Weighting 

ROCE is a profitability metric that measures how efficiently a company generates profits from its capital employed. There is an increased 
focus on measuring the returns earned by businesses on the capital deployed by shareholders over and above the steady low risk returns 
typically available on financial markets. 

For SSW, ROCE is evaluated against the company’s cost of equity (Ke). A minimum threshold on the performance scale for ROCE is set 
as equaling the cost of equity, Ke, which would lead to the ROCE element contributing 0% towards the performance condition. Delivering a 
return that exceeds Ke by 6% or more would be regarded as a superior return representing the maximum 100% on the performance scale 
and full vesting in respect of the ROCE element. The performance curve governing vesting is set out in the table below, with linear 
interpolation between the indicated levels. 

  

ROCE element of performance condition 
 

Annual ROCE % vesting 

≤Ke 0.0% 

Ke + 1% 16.7% 
Ke + 2% 33.3% 

Ke + 3% 50.0% 

Ke + 4% 66.7% 
Ke + 5% 83.3% 
Ke + 6% 100.0% 

 

The overall vesting is determined by applying the TSR performance condition to 70% of awarded shares element and the ROCE 
performance condition to 30% of awarded shares – plus any further discretionary reduction in the award based on the Remuneration 
Committee’s judgement regarding ESG issues mentioned above. 

Valuation model and inputs 

A Monte Carlo Simulation model was used to value equity-settled share-based payment awards issued by SGL in prior periods before 
implementation of the Scheme. There were no new equity-settled share-based payment awards made by SSW since it became the settling 
entity in the Share Plans.  

Share awards granted, exercised and forfeited under the 2017 Share Plan 
     

Performance shares   Bonus shares 
2019 2020 Number of instruments 2020 2019 

 -  68,236,442 Outstanding at beginning of the year1  2,582,489  - 
  Movement during the year:   

 -  (1,005,668) Vested  (2,541,680)  - 
 -  (4,633,349) Forfeited  (40,809)  - 
 -  62,597,425 Outstanding at end of the year  -  - 

1 There were no material movements in share awards between 1 January 2020 and 24 February 2020 
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Share awards granted, exercised and forfeited under the 2013 Share Plan 
     

Performance shares  Bonus shares 
2019 2020 Number of instruments 2020 2019 

 -  11,157,460 Outstanding at beginning of the year1  -  - 
  Movement during the year:   

 -  (5,055,647) Vested  -  - 
 -  (6,101,813) Forfeited  -  - 
 -  - Outstanding at end of the year  -  - 

1 There were no material movements in share awards between 1 January 2020 and 24 February 2020 

Directors and prescribed officers’ equity-settled instruments 

The directors and prescribed officers of SSW held the following equity-settled instruments in the above 2017 Share Plan and 2013 Share 
Plan at 31 December 2020: 
        

 20191 
Instruments 

granted 
Equity-settled instruments 

vested during the year 
Instruments 

forfeited 
2020 

 
Number of 

instruments 
Number of 

instruments 
Number of 

instruments 
Average 

price 

Share 
proceeds 

(rand)2 

Number of 
instruments 

Number of 
instruments 

Executive directors       
Neal Froneman3  9,647,563  -  827,687  38.78  32,095,618  1,452,461  7,367,415 
Charl Keyter  4,689,446  -  416,220  38.22  15,909,215  736,054  3,537,172 
Prescribed officers        
Chris Bateman4  3,976,014  -  1,055,727  52.51  55,433,322  2,092,683  827,604 
Shadwick Bessit  1,928,857  -  214,249  37.45  8,024,436  394,887  1,319,721 
Hartley Dikgale5  2,155,964  -  833,284  33.46  27,882,245  1,322,680  - 
Dawie Mostert  2,462,548  -  236,036  38.11  8,996,232  419,915  1,806,597 
Themba Nkosi  2,163,196  -  221,755  37.65  8,350,171  395,503  1,545,938 
Wayne Robinson  2,579,947  -  260,536  37.81  9,850,640  471,210  1,848,201 
Richard Stewart  2,957,219  -  302,063  37.26  11,253,941  562,512  2,092,644 
Robert van Niekerk  3,924,717  -  313,281  38.28  11,990,926  633,725  2,977,711 
1 Prior to the implementation of the Scheme, the share awards were issued and settled by SGL. From 24 February 2020, all share awards are settled by the 

Company. No new equity-settled instruments were issued during 2020. The 2019 number of instruments reflects the take-on instruments at 24 February 
2020 when the Company became the settling entity 

2 Amounts represent earnings taxable in the hands of the participants. These were calculated by taking vesting date closing share prices of the Company 
multiplied by the number of vested units  

3 Numbers include American Depositary Receipts and JSE listed shares and as a result of the dual service contract 
4 Share proceeds were calculated by converting the US dollar amounts at an average exchange rate of R16.46/US$ for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

Chris Bateman ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 6 September 2020 
5 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 31 March 2020 

9.      Related party transactions 

The Company entered into related-party transactions with key management and its subsidiaries during the year as detailed below. The 
transactions with these related parties are generally conducted on terms comparable to transactions with third parties. 

Refer to the following notes for additional related party disclosures: 

 Note 4: Investment income – Detail provided on income from related parties 

 Note 6: Investments in subsidiaries - List of subsidiaries, which provides further detail on the relationship between the Company and 
its subsidiaries 
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9.1     Key management remuneration 

The disclosure below incorporates remuneration for services rendered to various companies within the Group during the year. 

The executive directors and prescribed officers earned the following remuneration in the Group during the year and paid by SGL for 
SA employees and Stillwater for US employees: 

 
        

Figures in thousands - SA rand Salary 

Cash 
bonus 

accrued 
for 2020 

paid in 
2021 

Accrual of 
share-
based 

payment 
benefits 

Pension 
scheme total 
contributions 

Expense 
allowance 
and other 

benefits 2020 2019 
Executive directors       
Neal Froneman1  13,336  13,405  30,292  838  102  57,973  31,917 
Charl Keyter  6,353  6,526  15,067  937  80  28,963  16,024 
Prescribed officers 
Chris Bateman2  7,058  3,484  52,404  959  3,054  66,959  25,289 
Shadwick Bessit3  4,218  4,022  5,749  769  31  14,789  10,595 
Hartley Dikgale4  977  712  26,852  65  553  29,159  7,898 
Dawie Mostert  3,870  3,660  8,553  545  27  16,655  9,284 
Themba Nkosi  3,788  3,178  8,005  292  23  15,286  8,117 
Wayne Robinson  4,532  4,483  9,848  381  28  19,272  10,044 
Richard Stewart  4,075  3,669  10,635  467  27  18,873  9,428 
Robert van Niekerk  5,156  5,486  11,700  589  44  22,975  13,547 
Laurent Charbonnier5  1,315  773  515  11  -  2,614  - 
Lerato Legong6  1,144  945  630  156  -  2,875  - 
Cheryl Van Zyl7  153  117  -  21  -  291  1,648 
Martin van der Walt7  272  351  -  34  -  657  966 
Pieter Henning7  402  361  241  100  -  1,104  3,437 
Philip van der Westhuizen7  138  152  -  15  -  305  1,417 
Total  56,787  51,324  180,491  6,179  3,969  298,750  149,611 
1 Entered into a dual service contract with effect 1 January 2020. Remuneration paid by Stillwater in US dollars was converted at the average exchange rate of 

R16.46/US$ (2019: R14.46/US$) for the year ended 31 December 2020 
2 Remuneration paid by Stillwater in US dollars was converted at the average exchange rate of R16.46/US$ for the year ended 31 December 2020. Chris 

Bateman ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 6 September 2020 
3 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 16 January 2021 
4 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 31 March 2020 
5 Assumed a prescribed officer role on 16 November 2020, remuneration paid in GBP was converted at the average exchange rate of R21.10/GBP for the 

year ended 31 December 2020 
6 Assumed a prescribed officer role on 1 September 2020 
7 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role on 24 February 2020 as a result of the Scheme implemented 

The non-executive directors earned the following fees in the Group during the year: 
        

Figures in thousands - SA rand 
Directors 

fees 
Committee 

fees 
Expense 

allowance 2020 2019 
Timothy Cumming  1,042  743  124  1,909  1,795 
Savannah Danson  1,042  638  -  1,680  1,609 
Barry Davison1  -  -  -  -  666 
Harry Kenyon-Slaney  1,199  775  140  2,114  1,699 
Richard Menell  1,679  354  81  2,114  1,831 
Sello Moloko2  -  -  -  -  1,407 
Nkosemntu Nika  1,042  638  28  1,708  1,609 
Keith Rayner  1,042  822  -  1,864  1,881 
Susan van der Merwe  1,042  638  36  1,716  1,609 
Jerry Vilakazi  1,042  380  -  1,422  1,362 
Vincent Maphai  2,669  -  87  2,756  822 
Elaine Jay Dorward-King3  906  201  -  1,107  - 
Wang Bin4  255  72  -  327  - 
Lu Jiongjie4  255  72  -  327  - 
Total  13,215  5,333  496  19,044  16,290 
1 Resigned as a non-executive director on 28 May 2019 

2 Resigned as a non-executive director on 30 September 2019 
3 Appointed as a non-executive director 27 March 2020 
4 Appointed and resigned as a non-executive director on 24 February 2020 and 27 March 2020, respectively 
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The directors’ and prescribed officers’ share ownership at 31 December 2020 was: 
      

  Number of shares1 % 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
Executive directors  
Neal Froneman2,10   4,829,128  4,858,723  0.17  0.18 
Charl Keyter2,10   1,775,994  1,673,316  0.06  0.06 
Non-executive directors  
Timothy Cumming2   1,242  242  -  - 
Barry Davison4   -  -  -  - 
Richard Menell2   84,625  108,625  -  - 
Sello Moloko4   -  -  -  - 
Keith Rayner2   68,992  68,992  -  - 
Susan van der Merwe2   1,027  1,028  -  - 
Vincent Maphai2   50,000  -  -  - 
Savannah Danson2   2,519  -  -  - 
Harry Kenyon-Slaney2,5   16,852  -  -  - 
Elaine Dorward-King2,6   4,800  -  -  - 
Total share ownership by directors   6,835,179  6,710,926 
Prescribed officers  
Chris Bateman7   -  32,747  -  - 
Shadwick Bessit8   94,707  31,652  -  - 
Hartley Dikgale7   -  184,311  -  0.01 
Dawie Mostert3,10   38,975  38,975  -  - 
Themba Nkosi2,10   59,022  796  -  - 
Wayne Robinson2,10   184,333  73,292  0.01  - 
Richard Stewart2,10   105,303  362,747  -  0.01 
Robert van Niekerk3,10   24,341  257,732  -  0.01 
Laurent Charbonnier2,9   35,620  -  -  - 
Lerato Legong2   -  -  -  - 
Total   7,377,480  7,693,178 
1 Prior to implementation of the Scheme, the shares were held in SGL. From 24 February 2020, the shares are held in SSW 
2 Share ownership in the Company at the date of this report is unchanged (except as described in footnote 10 below) 
3 Share ownership in the Company at the date of this report was (except as described in footnote 10 below): 

 Dawie Mostert – 6,100 shares 
 Robert van Niekerk – 366 shares 

4 Resigned during 2019 
5 Harry Kenyon-Slaney holds 4,213 ADRs at 31 December 2020 which convert to 16,852 ordinary shares in the Company 
6 Appointed during 2020. Elaine Dorward-King holds 1,200 ADRs at 31 December 2020 which convert to 4,800 ordinary shares in the Company 
7 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role during 2020  
8 Ceased performing a prescribed officer role during 2021 before the financial statements were authorised for issue 
9 Appointed during 2020. Laurent Charbonnier holds 8,905 ADRs at 31 December 2020 which convert to 35,620 ordinary shares in the Company  

10 At the date of this report, the following directors and prescribed officers had shares in escrow following the March 2021 vesting in terms of the equity-settled 
share-based payment scheme: 
 Neal Froneman – 2,725,411 shares and 319,165 ADRs 
 Charl Keyter – 2,037,730 shares 
 Dawie Mostert – 989,754 shares 
 Themba Nkosi – 795,975 shares 
 Wayne Robinson – 915,070 shares and 9,036 ADRs 
 Richard Stewart – 1,135,892 shares 
 Robert Van Niekerk – 1,598,602 shares 

 

None of the directors’ associates held any direct shareholding in the Company’s issued share capital.  

9.2     Other related party transactions and balances 

Accounting policy 

Intercompany loans receivable 

Amounts payable to the Company are non-derivative financial assets categorised as measured at amortised cost. These assets are 
initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised 
cost. 

Impairment 

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or 
loss to the extent applicable. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.  

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month 



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

26 
Sibanye Stillwater Limited| Annual Financial Statements 
 

ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is 
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

For any assets carried at amortised cost (which are due in more than 12 months), the ECL is based on the 12-month ECL. However, when 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. When determining 
whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company 
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. Impairment losses are 
recognised through profit or loss. 

The Company considers non-current related party loans receivable in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due, however 
in certain cases, the Company may also consider the loan receivable to be in default when internal or external information indicates that 
the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by 
the Company. A related party loan receivable is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash 
flow. 

Non-current related party loans receivables have no repayment terms and therefore are considered in default 90 days after the loan has 
been called from the related party. The financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the cash flow 
from the related party. 

Derecognition 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial asset that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as 
a separate asset or liability. 

The below table illustrates the related party loans receivable: 
    

Figures in million - SA rand 2020 2019 
Loans receivable from subsidiaries    
SGL   12,650.1  - 
Balance at end of the year   12,650.1  - 
Current portion of related party loan   (45.1)  - 
Non-current portion of related party loan   12,605.0  - 

Loan receivable from SGL 

The US$ Convertible Bond was issued by SGL. However, due to the implementation of the Scheme (refer note 7), the shares to be issued 
upon settlement are those of SSW. As a result, SSW and SGL entered into a loan facility agreement to fund the settlement of the Bond.  

In terms of the loan facility agreement, SSW issued shares to SGL on loan account. The fair value of the SSW shares, calculated as the 
volume weighted average price of the SSW shares on each date of settlement, was used as the loan draw down values. The total fair 
value of the shares and corresponding loan draw down amounted to R12,573.2 million. The additional movements on the loan include 
interest capitalised and the funding by SGL of the SSW share buy-back. The SSW shares were directly issued to the bondholders. Other 
than using the related party loan receivable as a mechanism to fund the tax payable amounting to R45.1 million, at 31 December 2020 the 
Company had no intention to call for repayment of the loan and has therefore classified the remaining portion as non-current. 

 
Terms of the loan 

  

Facility The SA rand loan facility in for an amount of R22.5 billion, granted by SSW to SGL under the loan facility 
agreement 

Interest rate JIBAR plus 2.40% 

Security Unsecured 

Repayment terms The loan is repayable upon written notice by either party 

The table below shows a reconciliation of the loan receivable balance at 31 December 2020: 
    

Figures in million - SA rand Notes 2020 2019 
Balance at beginning of the year   -  - 
Shares issued to SGL to settle the US$ Convertible Bond   12,573.2  - 
Interest capitalised 4  161.0  - 
Repayment1 7  (84.1)  - 
Balance at end of the year   12,650.1  - 
1The share buy-back (refer note 7) was funded by SGL and accounted for as a partial repayment of the intercompany loan 
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Credit risk 

The Company is exposed to credit risk on the total carrying value of the related party loan receivable. The loan is reviewed on a regular 
basis and an allowance for impairment will be raised if the carrying amount is not considered recoverable. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The related party loan receivable of R12,650.1 million at 31 December 2020 is exposed to interest rate fluctuations as a result of changes 
to the JIBAR rate. A one percent change in the JIBAR rate would result in a R21.1 million impact on profit or loss. 

Fair value of related party loan receivable 

Since the interest on the loan is charged at a market related interest rate, the fair value at initial recognition as well as at 31 December 
2020 was equal to the carrying value. 

10.    Risk management activities 

Working capital and going concern assessment 

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company realised a profit of R20,403.5 million (31 December 2019: Rnil). As at 31 December 
2020 the Company’s current liabilities were equal to its current assets (31 December 2019: current assets exceeded current liabilities by 
R1) and it’s total assets exceeded its total liabilities by R49,341.1 million (31 December 2019: R1). During the year ended 31 December 
2020 the Company generated no cash from operating activities (31 December 2019: Rnil). 

The Sibanye-Stillwater Group (the Group) has a central Group Treasury Function which manages the liquidity requirements of the Group. 
SSW, as the holding company of the Group, will obtain funding for any shortfall in its liquidity requirements (if any) through the Group 
Treasury Function. Below is management’s assessment and conclusion on the ability of the central Group Treasury Function to fund, 
amongst other operations, the future liquidity requirements of the Company.  

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group realised a profit of R30,621.6 million (31 December 2019: R432.8 million). As at 31 
December 2020 the Group’s current assets exceeded its current liabilities by R34,755.5 million (31 December 2019: R11,836.9 million) 
and the Group’s total assets exceeded its total liabilities by R70,716.0 million (31 December 2019: R31,138.3 million). During the year 
ended 31 December 2020 the Group generated net cash from operating activities of R27,149.3 million (31 December 2019: R9,464.0 
million). 

The Group currently has committed undrawn debt facilities of R7,336.3 million at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: R5,688.0 
million) and cash balances of R20,239.8 million (31 December 2019: R5,619.0 million). The most immediate debt maturity is the US$353.7 
million June 2022 High Yield bond maturity, and an early restructure and/or settlement of this tranche could be undertaken during 2021. 
Additionally, during March 2021 the Group successfully extended the first maturity date for the remaining lender, as a result US$150 
million of the USD Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) matures in April 2022, with the US$450 million balance of the USD RCF maturing in 
April 2023. As at 31 December 2020 only US$475 million of the US$600 million USD RCF was drawn. The R5.5 billion RCF was fully 
repaid during August 2020 with the full balance being undrawn at 31 December 2020 and available until November 2023, given the 
exercise of the first extension option. During October 2020 the US$ Convertible bond was settled through cash (R13.2 million) and the 
issue of shares (R12,573.2 million, refer note 7), further strengthening the balance sheet whilst preserving cash. Given the high level of 
available cash and undrawn facilities and resultant strong liquidity position, no imminent refinancing of debt is required. 

The Group’s leverage ratio (net (cash)/debt to adjusted EBITDA) as at 31 December 2020 was (0.1):1 (31 December 2019 was 1.4:1) and 
its interest coverage ratio (adjusted EBITDA to net finance charges) was 79.8:1 (31 December 2019 was 6.5:1). Both considerably better 
than the maximum permitted leverage ratio of at most 2.5:1 (up to 31 December 2019 3.5:1); and minimum required interest coverage ratio 
of 4.0:1, calculated on a quarterly basis, required under the US$600 million RCF and the R5.5 billion RCF. 

Gold and PGMs are sold in US dollars with most of the South African operating costs incurred in rand, as such the Group’s results and 
financial condition will be impacted if there is a material change in the rand/US dollar exchange rate. High levels of volatility in commodity 
prices may also impact on profitability. Due to the nature of deep level mining, industrial and mining accidents may result in operational 
disruptions such as stoppages which could result in increased production costs as well as financial and regulatory liabilities. Further, the 
Group’s operations may be adversely affected by production stoppages caused by labour unrests, union activity or other factors.  

Any additional regulatory restrictions imposed by the South African government to reduce the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic (refer 
below) could adversely affect the 2021 production outlook of the South African operations. Presently, there are no COVID-19 related work 
stoppages being imposed by either the Federal government and the State of Montana. However, the ongoing need to maintain COVID-19 
protocols in the US, due to state and federal guidelines and the Montana Operation’s own processes to manage its COVID-19 exposures, 
is having an impact on productivity and may adversely affect the 2021 production outlook of the US PGM operations. These productivity 
impacts include, but are not limited to, staggered shift arrangements, duplicate transport, mandatory screening, contact tracing and 
quarantining where necessary. These factors could impact on cash generated or utilised by the Group, as well as adjusted EBITDA and 
financial covenants. 
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The following events, reported in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020, impacted on the profitability of the 
Group for the year under review: 

 Anglo American Platinum Limited’s (Anglo Plats) temporary shutdown of its converter plant (force majeure declared on 6 March 2020) 
– during the force majeure period, material produced by the Rustenburg, Platinum Mile and Kroondal operations was delivered to the 
Group’s Marikana processing facility. The converter plant at Anglo Plats was brought back into production on 12 May 2020 and Anglo 
Plats lifted the force majeure. On 31 May 2020 the converter plant was again shut down due to a water leak in the high-pressure 
cooling section of the converter which was repaired by mid-June 2020. The toll treatment agreement between Anglo Plats and the 
Rustenburg operation, and the purchase of concentrate agreement with the Kroondal and Platinum Mile operations continued after 
Anglo repaired and recommissioned its converter plant. 

 COVID-19 outbreak in South Africa – the President of the Republic of South Africa announced a nation-wide lockdown from midnight 
26 March 2020, which was amended through a notice published by the South African government on 16 April 2020 allowing for the 
Group’s South African mining operations to be conducted at a reduced capacity of not more than 50%. From 17 April 2020, 
management commenced implementing its strategy to mobilise the required employee complement to safely ramp up production at 
the South African operations to the initial restricted 50%. Subsequent directives issued by the Minister of Mineral Resources and 
Energy and the easing of lockdown restrictions allowed for the controlled ramp up of production under stringent regulations. These 
measures had a significant adverse impact on the production from the Group’s South African operations during Q2 2020. At 30 June 
2020 the SA Gold and SA PGM operations were at a production capacity of 86% and 73%, respectively. The Group’s strategy to 
safely mobilise employees and ramp up to near normal production levels by the end of H2 2020 was successfully delivered. By the 
end of December 2020 the SA gold operations were almost ramped up to normal production capacity, however the momentum of 
ramping up into January 2021 was disturbed by Christmas break whereby the pace of employees returning back was slower than 
anticipated, especially those foreign nationals returning from the SADC countries where stricter border controls were implemented. 
The return to work was impacted due to the extended screening process and compliance requirements linked to the National 
Government level 3 lockdown regulations which was imposed in December 2020 and January 2021. By the end of December 2020, 
the SA PGM operations were ramped up to normal production capacity, however the momentum of ramping up into January 2021 
was also disturbed by Christmas break whereby the pace of employees returning back was slower than anticipated due to the 
extended screening process. The extended period of screening was caused by the compliance requirements to level 3 National 
government lockdown regulations which require every employee returning from the Christmas break to be tested and screened for 
COVID-19. In H1 2020, capital expenditure at the South African operations was deferred to H2 2020 mainly due to the COVID-19 
lockdowns, with capital expenditure in H2 2020 mainly incurred in the Infrastructure, safety and compliance projects. The deferral of 
such capital expenditure projects will flow into Q1 2021 and is also reflected as an increase in the 2021 capex plan. 

 Although no formal lock down was experienced at the US PGM operations during 2020, the operational performance of the US PGM 
operations was negatively impacted by COVID-19, with proactive COVID-19 measures required to mitigate the spread of the COVID-
19 pandemic and contain liquidity for the Group. This, amongst others, resulted in the deferral of capital project activity, the delay in 
receipt of key sustaining and growth capital items and a curtailment in recycling operation activity for a portion of 2020.  The need to 
demobilise key project contractors during the onset of COVID-19, together with force majeure declaration's on key project 
infrastructure, contributed to the Stillwater East (Blitz) project being delayed by 24 months. The Group’s recycling operations saw a 
noticeable market liquidity driven slow down early on in the pandemic, although a recovery in the secondary supply market occurred 
during the second half of 2020. The US PGM Operations saw production losses of approximately 4% due to COVID-19 during 2020. 

During December 2020 and January 2021 South Africa experienced a second wave of COVID-19 infections which was contained. 
Although the South African government introduced a level 3 lock down commencing from 28 December 2020, which was subsequently 
reduced to level 1 lock down, this did not impose further restrictions on our South African operations. COVID-19 infection rates remain high 
across the United States and our Montana Operations continue to operate under strict COVID-19 protocols. Although further waves of 
COVID-19 infections could result in further restrictions on the Group which could affect its operational performance, management believes 
that the educational, safety and continued awareness measures already embedded at all our operations should limit the spread of 
infections.  

The Group has thoroughly demonstrated its ability to proactively manage liquidity risk through these extraordinary times. The Group’s 
improved geographical and commodity diversification, along with improved commodity prices, cost containment, and increased operational 
scale have enabled management to successfully mitigate the simultaneous impact of these abnormal events during 2020, navigating the 
Group to well below its targeted leverage ratio of below 1:1. 

Notwithstanding the exceptionally strong current liquidity position and financial outlook, further amendments to COVID-19 regulations or 
uncontrolled infection rates could impose additional restrictions on both the US PGM and South African operations that may adversely 
impact the production outlook for 2021. This could deteriorate the Group’s forecasted liquidity position and may require the Group to 
further increase operational flexibility by adjusting mine plans, reducing capital expenditure and/or selling assets. The Group may also, if 
necessary, be required to consider options to increase funding flexibility which may include, amongst others, additional loan facilities or 
debt capital market issuances, streaming facilities, prepayment facilities or, in the event that other options are not deemed preferable or 
achievable by the Board, an equity capital raise. The Group could also, with lender approval, request covenant amendments or restructure 
facilities. During past adversity management has successfully implemented similar actions.  
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Management believes that the cash generated by its operations, cash on hand, the unutilised debt facilities as well as additional funding 
opportunities will enable the Group to continue to meet its obligations as they fall due. As a result, management concluded that the Group 
will have sufficient liquidity to fund, through its central Group Treasury Function, the liquidity requirements of the Company. The financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, therefore, have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

11.    Events after the reporting date  

There were no events that could have a material impact on the financial results of the Company after 31 December 2020, other than that 
mentioned below. 

Acquisition of investment in Keliber Oy 

On 23 February 2021 Keliber and the Company entered into an investment agreement that enables Keliber to significantly advance its 
lithium project in Central Ostrobothnia, Finland. The Keliber project consists of several advanced stage lithium spodumene deposits, with 
significant exploration upside in close proximity to the existing project. Based on a feasibility study completed in 2019 and improved in 
2020, Keliber currently has 9.3 million tonnes of ore reserves, sufficient for more than 13 years of operation. Planned annual production is 
15,000 tonnes of battery grade lithium hydroxide. The project includes the development of a chemical plant in Kokkola, approximately 50 
kilometers from the mining area, which will produce battery grade lithium hydroxide. The Group intends to play a key role as an industrial 
anchor investor in the forthcoming financing of the construction of Keliber’s lithium project. The demand for lithium is expected to surge as 
a result of increasing digitalisation and electrification of transportation. Production is anticipated to start in 2024 and none of the future 
lithium hydroxide production has been committed to any offtake party.  

Under the investment agreement the Company will make an initial phased equity investment of €30 million, for an approximate 30% equity 
shareholding into Keliber. In the first tranche the Company subscribed for shares in Keliber for €15 million and simultaneously, on the 
same terms as Sibanye-Stillwater’s €30 million phased investment, a further €10 million equity issuance was offered to the existing Keliber 
shareholders, which was fully subscribed. The investment agreement allows the Company to finance development work of a further €15 
million in two tranches over a twelve-month period. In addition to, and subject to the completion of the initial investment and funding, the 
Company has a guaranteed option to achieve the majority shareholding in Keliber, should it wish to do so, by contributing further equity 
financing for the development of the project.  

The investment in Keliber resulting from the €15 million subscription in the first tranche will be treated as an equity accounted associate. 
Further subscriptions of tranche two and three will be assessed at the time of subscription to determine whether the Company has at that 
stage obtained sufficient voting rights and/or potential voting rights to obtain accounting control over Keliber. 
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